IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2009-CA-01412 CONSOLIDATED WITH 2008-M-1855

TOULMAN D. BOATWRIGHT, JR.

APPELLANT

VERSUS -

GRACE BONDS BOATWRIGHT

APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF MARSHALL COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

HELEN KENNEDY ROBINSON MSB POST OFFICE BOX 187 OXFORD, MISSISSIPPI 38655

9065 GOODMAN ROAD OLIVE BRANCH, MISSISSIPPI TELEPHONE: (662)890-9596 FACSIMILE: (662)234-7111

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2009-CA-01412 CONSOLIDATED WITH 2008-M-1855

TOULMAN D. BOATWRIGHT, JR.

APPELLANT

- VERSUS -

GRACE BONDS BOATWRIGHT APPELLEE CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

TOULMAN D. BOATWRIGHT, Appellant, by counsel, pursuant to Miss. Sup. Ct. Rule 10 (b) (4), states the following issues to be decided on appeal:

- (I). Did the Chancellor err in denying Appellants Motion to Alter or Amend or For A New Trial?
 - (II). Did the Chancellor err in refusing to recuse himself in this matter?
- (III). Did the Chancellor err in failing to disclose his personal relationship with opposing counsel?
- (IV). Did the Chancellor err in sanctioning Appellant and his attorney for filing a Motion To Recuse?
- (V). Was the Chancellor's refusal to order that Appellant be reimbursed for child support paid to Appellee for the benefit of the minor child, Hannah Boatwright, during the time she was in the custody of his parents, and for refusing to order Appellee to pay back support during the time the minor child was in the custody of the paternal grandparents error and based on bias?
- (VI). Did the Chancellor err in holding Appellant in willful contempt for failing to pay certain college related expenses of the minor child, Wynne Boatwright?
- (VII). Did the Court err in fining Appellant \$1,000.00 for having been found in willful contempt?
- (VIII). Did the Chancellor err is ordering that Appellant to continue to pay support and college tuition for the benefit of the minor child, Wynne Boatwright?

- (IX). Did the Chancellor err is ordering Appellant to pay attorney fees as a result of his finding of willful contempt?
- (X). Were the Chancellor's rulings based on his bias against him and in favor of Appellee?

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2009-CA-01412 CONSOLIDATED WITH 2008-M-1855

TOULMAN D. BOATWRIGHT, JR.

APPELLANT

VERSUS -

GRACE BONDS BOATWRIGHT

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On October 19, 2007, Appellee, Grace Bonds Boatwright, hereinafter referred to as Ms. Boatwright, filed a Petition for Contempt and Modification alleging mainly issues of non-payment by Mr. Boatwright of certain expenses incurred on behalf of the minor children. (RE 58-63) On October 3, 2008, Appellant, Toulman D. Boatwright, Jr., hereinafter referred to as Mr. Boatwright, filed an Amended Answer and Counter-Petition. (RE 104-115). An Agreed Temporary Order was entered giving Mr. Boatwright additional visitation with Hannah Boatwright and appointing Jennifer Shackelford Guardian ad Litem for Hannah on December 4, 2007. (RE 64-66) In July of 2008, on motion of the Guardian ad Litem Dr. Wyatt Nichols, a psychologist, to conduct evaluations of the parties and the minor child, Hannah Boatwright. Dr. Nichols was later directed to evaluate the minor child, Dunn Boatwright, too.

On May 20, 2008, Ms. Boatwright, filed a Motion for Emergency Relief and noticed it for hearing on May 23, 2008. (RE 67-72) On May 23, 2008 a Substitution of Counsel was entered substituting the Honorable Helen Kennedy Robinson as counsel for Mr. Boatwright. (RE 76) Without a hearing the Court ordered on the 23rd of May, that Mr. Boatwright's visitation with his minor child, Dunn Boatwright, be suspended until the hearing on the Motion for Emergency Relief.

Mr. Boatwright filed a Motion for Temporary Relief on September 5, 2008 requesting he no longer be required to pay support unto Ms. Boatwright for the benefit of Hannah, that he pay it directly to the paternal grandparents, and that Ms. Boatwright also pay support for the benefit of

Hannah. (RE 78-80) A Temporary Order was entered on September 29, 2008, directing Mr. Boatwright to pay support for Hannah in the amount of \$100.00 to the paternal grandparents. (RE 102)

Mr. Boatwright filed his Motion to Recuse on October 6, 2008. (RE 116-129) At approximately 4:30 in the afternoon the day before the hearing, Ms. Boatwright's attorneys filed a 50 page Response to Motion to Recuse and Counter-Motion for Sanctions. (RE 130-180) A lengthy hearing was had on October 16, 2008. On that date the trial court took the matter under advisement and ordered the parties to appear before the Court on October 28, 2008 for rendition of his opinion. On that day, the Chancellor delivered a 3 to 4 hour opinion which is part of the record on the Petition for Review consolidated with this appeal. (RE 181)

A hearing on the merits of all pending motions, petitions and counter-petitions was scheduled before Chancellor Edwin H. Roberts, Jr., on February 9,10, 12, 2009. (RE 214) As a result of said setting, counsel opposite filed a Notice of Motion setting her Counter-Motion for Sanctions on February 9, 2009. (RE 223-225) Mr. Boatwright filed a Response to the Counter-Motion for Sanctions on February 2, 2009. (ARE 226-244) The Guardian ad Litem filed her report which included a copy of the report from Dr. Nichols the court appointed psychologist on February 9, 2010. (RE 265-282) At the conclusion of the hearing on February 12, 2009, Chancellor Roberts directed to the attorneys to submit findings of fact and conclusions of law and took the matter under advisement until March 11, 2009, at which time the parties were to appear before him for rendition of his opinion. (RE 291-331; 398-432) The date was later changed to March 10, 2010. The Court also directed that argument on the Counter-Motion for Sanctions filed by Amanda and Kent Smith in response to Mr. Boatwrights's, Motion for Sanctions, would be heard on March 10, 2010. Prior to March 10, 2010, the attorneys received a letter dated February 13, 2009, by facsimile from Chancellor Roberts reiterating that on March 10th the Court would hear "argument" on the Counter-Motion for Sanctions. (ARE 283-285)

Chancellor Roberts rendered his opinion in open court on March 10, 2009. (ARE 38-117)

The opinion together with "argument" on the Answer to Motion to Recuse and Counter-Motion for

Sanctions, took approximately four to five hours.

On March 26, 2009, the attorneys and the Guardian ad Litem had an on-the-record conference with Chancellor Roberts for clarification purposes. At that conference, Chancellor Roberts based on his ruling on March 10, 2010, that he would hold a hearing on Writ of Inquiry to determine the amount of attorney fees to be awarded to Ms. Boatwright due to Mr. Boatwright having been found in contempt of court, scheduled the Writ of Inquiry for April 9, 2009. (RE 360)

On April 3, 2009, counsel for Mr. Boatwright received an updated fee statement from counsel opposite with a total amount requested of \$39,000.00. (ARE 127-143)

During the afternoon of April 8, 2009, Mr. Boatwright's attorney learned that Kent Smith had taken Chancellor Roberts turkey hunting that morning. The morning before a hearing wherein Mr. Smith was requesting the Court award his client over \$39,000.00 in attorney fees. Mr. Boatwright's attorney contacted Mr. Boatwright to discuss the matter and her responsibility under Rule 8.3 of the Rules of Professional Conduct. Mr. Boatwright and his attorney felt that this matter should be reported to the Judicial Performance Commission and did in fact file a report by facsimile on the afternoon of April 8, 2009. Counsel for Mr. Boatwright requested the court continue this matter until such time as she could file a new Motion to Recuse. Mr. Boatwright and his attorney appeared before Chancellor Roberts on the morning of April 9, 2009 for the scheduled hearing on Writ of Inquiry to determine the amount of attorney fees. Mr. Boatwright's attorney requested an "in camera" conference with the Chancellor and Ms. Boatwright's attorneys. Mr. Boatwright's attorney informed the Chancellor that on the previous day information had come to her attention which gave her a duty pursuant to Rule 8.3 of the Rules of Profession Conduct to file a report with the appropriate agency and requested a continuance of the hearing in order to give her time to file a new Motion to Recuse. The Chancellor granted the continuance request. (CRT 1098, 3-4; RE 865) Prior to dismissing counsel and the parties, the Chancellor signed the proposed Order from his March 10. 2009 ruling. (ARE 118-126) On April 13, 2009, Mr. Boatwright's attorney filed a Motion to Allow the filing of a sealed Motion to Recuse. (RE 362-363) On April 14, 2009, Chancellor Roberts signed the Order Imposing Sanctions. (RE 144-145) On April 16, 2009, Mr. Boatwright filed a

Motion to Alter or Amend or for A New Trial based on newly discovered evidence. (ARE 379-382) On May 5, 2009, Mr. Boatwright filed an Amended Motion to Alter or Amend or for A New Trial. (ARE 387-390) Prior to Mr. Boatwright having filed a new Motion to Recuse, Chancellor Roberts entered on his own motion an Order of Recusal on April 20, 2009. (ARE 146). The order stated that Chancellor Roberts was recusing himself from further hearings in this case, "in the best interest of equity and justice." Prior to recusing himself the Court signed all orders involving sanctions and attorney fees, but recused himself with the Motion to Alter or Amend or for a New Trial was still pending. At no time during the hearings on the Motion to Recuse or at any other time did Chancellor Roberts disclose his close personal relationship with Kent Smith.

On July 24, 2009, Chancellor Alderson entered an Order Denying the Motion For a New Trial, etc. (ARE 147)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Mr. Boatwright would show that the visitation and custody matters raised with the court below were resolved by the recommendations of the Guardian ad Litem and the court appointed psychologist and that he is not asking this Court for any relief regarding those issues.

(I). Did the Chancellor err in denying Appellants Motion to Alter or Amend or For A New Trial?

Mr. Boatwright did not learn until after the final hearing in this matter, but before the entry of any orders on the Judges' ruling, the newly discovered evidence which was the subject of his Motion to Alter or Amend or for a New Trial. Chancellor Alderson was placed in the untenable position of ruling on the motion when he had not heard any of the trial on the matter. Mr. Boatwright believes there was ample evidence on which his motion should have been granted, and request the ruling of Judge Alderson be reversed and that this Court render decision thereon or reverse and remand for a new trial.

(II). Did the Chancellor err in refusing to recuse himself in this matter?

Mr. Boatwright filed his Motion to Recuse in October of 2008 because he believed Chancellor Roberts had always been bias against him and based on comments made by the Chancellor prior to the filing of the motion and actions taken by the Chancellor on motions filed by

both sides he believed the past behavior of bias would continue. Throughout the proceeds on the Motion to Recuse, Chancellor Roberts held Mr. Boatwright to the "appearance of impropriety" standard. Mr. Boatwright feels that this standard is not appropriate in a situation where the Chancellor harbors actual bias or where a conflict exist. It was error for the Chancellor to have refused to recuse himself in this matter.

(III). Did the Chancellor err in failing to disclose his personal relationship with opposing counsel?

The Chancellor had a duty to disclose his personal relationship with counsel opposite and chose not to do so. Even after a Motion to Recuse was filed, wherein that disclosure would have been relevant no such disclosure was made. Instead, knowing they had information they did not believe Mr. Boatwright and his attorney would learn, they launched an outright attack on Mr. Boatwright and his attorney which had no limits. The three to four hour ruling on the Motion to Recuse was not simply a Chancellor ruling according to the facts and law as usual. The Chancellor adopting most of the argument made by counsel opposite in their Response to the Motion to Recuse. looked for every opportunity to belittle, criticize, and insult Mr. Boatwright and his attorney. This continued in the Chancellor's ruling on the merits of the case on March 10, 2009 wherein his rulings and findings of fact of willful contempt were not supported by the evidence or the law. After sanctioning Mr. Boatwright and his attorney almost \$6,000.00, finding Mr. Boatwright in contempt for failure to pay approximately \$1,700.00, fined him \$1,000.00 for each contempt, ordered he be incarcerated until the approximate \$2,700.00 was paid, and ordered a hearing be held upon writ of inquiry to determine the amount of attorney fees to be paid to counsel opposite. Then upon Mr. Boatwright and his attorney learning that counsel opposite had taken the Chancellor turkey hunting the day before the hearing scheduled to determine the attorney fees and that a report had been made regarding the incident, recused himself on his own motion. If the Chancellor had not known this conduct was wrong, he would have continued to refuse to recuse himself as he had so adamantly done before. The Chancellor committed reversible error when he failed to disclose is relationship with counsel opposite.

(IV). Did the Chancellor err in sanctioning opposing counsel and his attorney for filing a Motion

To Recuse?

At the conclusion of the trial in this matter, on March 10, 2010, the Chancellor on his own motion ordered there be a hearing on Writ of Inquiry to determine the amount of attorneys fees to be awarded to Ms. Boatwright's attorneys as a result of Mr. Boatwright having been found in willful contempt of court.

The Chancellor was informed on April 9, 2009 prior to the hearing on Writ of Inquiry, by counsel for Mr. Boatwright that she had learned information the afternoon before that pursuant to Rule 8.3 of the Code of Professional Responsibility required her to file a complaint with the appropriate tribunal on April 8, 2010. Mr. Boatwright requested a continuance of the Writ of Inquiry until she could file a sealed Motion to Recuse based upon the newly discovered evidence. The Chancellor granted the continuance. On April 9, 2009, prior to the attorneys leaving court, the Chancellor signed the Order on the merits of the February hearing. On April 14, 2010, Chancellor Roberts signed an Order Imposing Sanctions against Mr. Boatwright and his attorney for filing a frivolous Motion to Recuse. On April 20th, 2009, less than a week later, Chancellor Roberts recused himself on his own motion. Mr. Boatwright would show that it was error for Chancellor Roberts to have denied his Motion to Recuse when once his relationship with counsel opposite was found out, he recused himself on his own motion. Mr. Boatwright would show that at all time during this proceeding that he had grounds in support of his Motion to Recuse, but that what he lacked was the underlying basis for those grounds. The Chancellor as well as counsel opposite were at all times aware of the underlying basis for Mr. Boatwright's grounds and failed to make any disclosure thereof throughout all the heated proceedings on the Motion to Recuse. At the conclusion of the hearing held on the Response to Motion to Recuse and Counter-Motion for Sanctions on March 10, 2009, the Chancellor sanctioned Mr. Boatwright and his attorney the sum of \$5,938.11 for filing a frivolous Motion to Recuse. The Chancellor's sanctioning of Mr. Boatwright and is attorney were clearly erroneous, contrary to law, and imposed for the sole purpose of punishing Mr. Boatwright and his attorney for requesting that he recuse himself. It is this type of result that places attorneys in a difficult situation when it is necessary to ask a Chancellor to recuse themself from a matter. It is

certainly highly suspicious in this situation where the Chancellor signed the Order Imposing Sanctions and six days later recused himself on his own motion.

(V). Was the Chancellor's refusal to order that Appellant be reimbursed for child support paid to Appellee for the benefit of the minor child, Hannah Boatwright, during the time she was in the custody of his parents, and for refusing to order Appellee to pay back support during the time the minor child was in the custody of the paternal grandparents error and based on bias?

From May 23, 2008 when Hannah was placed in the custody of the paternal grandparents until September of 2008, Mr. Boatwright continued to pay support for Hannah to Ms. Boatwright.

The Chancellor was in error for refusing to Order that he be reimbursed for these payments.

From September of 2008 until March of 2009, Mr. Boatwright continued to pay support to Ms. Boatwright for the benefit of Wynne and Dunn, and paid support to the paternal grandparents for Hannah. The Chancellor erred in refusing to order Ms. Boatwright to pay back support for Hannah during this time.

(VI). Did the Chancellor err in holding Appellant in willful contempt for failing to pay certain college related expenses of the minor child, Wynne Boatwright?

On August 28, 2007, Ms. Boatwright billed Mr. Boatwright for the sum of \$1,011.98 for college expenses of Wynne's. The majority of this amount was \$842.63 for a computer purchased in May or before months prior to Wynne enrolling in college. It also included Home Depot and Target expenses. Mr. Boatwright did not feel these were legitimate college expenses and did not pay these items. On September 7, 2007, Ms. Boatwright billed Mr. Boatwright \$2,582.78 for Wynne's tuition and books. Mr. Boatwright paid this amount. The only amounts Mr. Boatwright did not pay were amounts in which he had a good faith belief were not legitimate college expenses. It was error to find him in contempt for failing to pay for items which were not a necessary college expense.

(VII) Did the Court err in fining Appellant \$1,000.00 for having been found in willful contempt?

The Court fined Mr. Boatwright \$100.00 for each finding of willful contempt which was to be paid to the Chancery Clerk of Marshall County. The findings of contempt involved failure to timely pay certain out-of-pocket medical expenses, timely provide proof of life insurance, failure to

pay college expenses addressed in issue VI above, and failure to provide a complete copy of his income tax return. It was error for the Chancellor to have found Mr. Boatwright in willful contempt for failure to pay associated college expenses which involved payment of items not directly related to college expenses and which Mr. Boatwright had a good faith belief that he should not have to pay.

The fine of \$1,000.00 should be reversed and Mr. Boatwright should be reimbursed said amount.

(VIII). Did the Chancellor err is ordering that Appellant to continue to pay support and college tuition for the benefit of the minor child, Wynne Boatwright?

The Chancellor's denial of Mr. Boatwright's request to be relieved of any further duty to pay support for his minor child, Wynne, because she refused to visit him or even acknowledge him as her father, and had moved in with her boyfriend without any telling him and without his approval. (IX). Did the Chancellor err is ordering Appellant to pay attorney fees as a result of his finding of willful contempt?

Mr. Boatwright would show that it was error to have found him in willful contempt for failure to pay out-of-pocket medical expenses, provide timely proof of life insurance and provide a copy of his income tax return, and for failing to pay certain college related expenses of the minor child, Wynne. Therefore, it was error for the Court to Order him to pay attorney fees.

(X). Were the Chancellor's rulings based on his bias against him and in favor of Appellee?

Mr. Boatwright would show that the rulings of the Chancellor were not supported by the record and were showed complete bias against him by the Chancellor. The record clearly shows the manner in which he, his attorney, and his witnesses were treated by the Chancellor. The Chancellor's rulings should be reversed.

ARGUMENT

(I). Did the Chancellor err in denying Appellants Motion to Alter or Amend or For A New Trial?

Rule 59(e) of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure allows a party to move for amendment of a judgment following its entry, and further gives the court authority to grant a new trial when appropriate. Rule 60 of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure provides for relief from judgment for the following reasons which are relevant to Mr. Boatwright's motion: (1) fraud, misrepresentation or other misconduct of an adverse party; (2) newly discovered evidence which by due diligence could not have been discovered in time to move for a new trial under Rule 59(b); and, (3) any other reason justifying relief from the judgment.

The Motion was heard before Chancellor Alderson on July 9, 2009. Chancellor Alderson felt this was a matter for the appellate courts and overruled the motion. (CRT 1129, 20-22) The Chancellor was in an awkward position since he had not presided over the trial or any other motions.

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