IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2009-CA-01412 CONSOLIDATED WITH NO. 2008-M-01855

TOULMAN D. BOATWRIGHT, JR.

APPELLANT

VS.

GRACE BONDS BOATWRIGHT

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF APPELLEE, GRACE BONDS BOATWRIGHT

ON APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF MARSHALL COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

(ORAL ARGUMENT IS NOT REQUESTED)

SUBMITTED BY:

AMANDA WHALEY SMITH, MSB KENT E. SMITH, MSB SMITH WHALEY, P.L.L.C. ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLEE Post Office Drawer 849 Holly Springs, Mississippi 38635 Telephone: (662) 252-3003 Facsimile: (662) 252-3006

IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2009-CA-01412 CONSOLIDATED WITH NO. 2008-M-01855

TOULMAN D. BOATWRIGHT, JR.

APPELLANT

VS.

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

"Ms. Boatwright has not failed to provide notice of appointments in a timely manner . . . [as she] has given reasonable explanations as to why they might not have all been within the 48-hour period when she explained that they're late when they go to the doctor on the weekend or she is not able to run by the post office because she's taking care of a sick child. The Court also finds that she has repeatedly asked for an email address or a fax number in which to provide that information in a more timely manner and that all of these requests have gone unanswered according to the testimony."

(A.R.E. 15-16).

The Chancellor's decision not to hold Ms. Boatwright in contempt is supported by credible evidence and is therefore proper.

5. <u>The Chancellor's sanctioning of Mr. Boatwright and his attorney was</u> proper.

Rule 11(b) of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure provides:

"If any party files a motion or pleading which in the opinion of the Court is frivolous or is filed for the purpose of harassment or delay, the Court may order such a party or his attorney or both to pay the opposing party or parties reasonable expenses incurred by such other parties and by their attorneys, including reasonable fees."

M.R.C.P. 11(b)

Similarly, *The Litigation Accountability Act*, §11-55-3(a) of the *Mississippi Code Annotated* provides that a claim is without substantial justification when it is "frivolous, groundless in fact or in law, or vexatious, as determined by the court". The Court uses the same test to determine whether a filing is frivolous under both Rule 11 and *The Litigation Accountability Act* and as such a claim is said to be frivolous when "objectively speaking the pleader or movant has no hope of success. *Leaf River Forest Prods., Inc. v. Deakle*, 661 So.2d 188, 197 (Miss.1995). The pivotal point in time to assess a party's or attorney's actions is the instant when the signature is placed upon the document. *Thomas v. Capital Security Services, Inc.* 836 F.2d 866, 874 (5th Cir.1988). "Rule 11 states, and the Act has been interpreted to state, that the decision to award sanctions is within the discretion of the trial court". *Illinois Central Railroad Company v. Broussard*, 19 So.3d 821, 823 (Miss.Ct.App.2009); Miss.Code Ann. §11-55-5 (Rev.2002); M.R.C.P. 11(b); *Choctaw, Inc. v. Campbell-Cherry-Harrison-Davis and Dove*, 965 So.2d 1041, 1045 (Miss.2007).

The Chancellor's decision to award Rule 11 sanctions is reviewed pursuant to the abuse-of-discretion standard. *Walton v. Walton*, 2010 WL 1664086 (Miss.App.); *Illinois Cent. R. Co. v. Broussard*, 19 So.3d 821,823 (Miss.Ct.App.2009); *Choctaw, Inc. v. Campbell-Cherry-Harrison-Davis and Dove*, 965 So.2d 1041, 1045 (Miss.2007). The

Court may order expenses or attorney fees "[i]f any party files a motion of pleading which, in the opinion of the court, is frivolous or is filed for the purpose of harassment or delay . . .". M.R.C.P. 11(b); Choctaw Inc. v. Campbell-Cherry-Harrison-Davis and Dove, 965 So.2d 1041, 1045 (Miss.2007).

The Chancellor in this case made a very detailed ninety (90) page ruling upon denying Mr. Boatwright's Motion to Recuse wherein he pointed out a litany of inconsistencies with the proof and Mr. Boatwright's allegations contained within his Motion and accompanying affidavits executed by him and his counsel. (C.R.T. 185-281). Likewise, those inconsistencies are pointed out in detail in Ms. Boatwright's Response to Mr. Boatwright's Motion to Recuse. (P.R.E. 14-63) During the hearing on Ms. Boatwright's request for sanctions, Mr. Boatwright admitted having sworn to matters under oath when he filed his Motion to Recuse that he either had no knowledge of or were proven to be false. (A.R.E. 79-89). Specifically, and contrary to the statements made by Mr. Boatwright in his Brief submitted to this Court, Mr. Boatwright's affidavit sworn to on October 6, 2008 and filed with his Motion to Recuse, stated that "the Court immediately prior to hearings in this matter has visited with opposing counsel, ... Grace Boatwright, and her brother in chambers without myself or my attorney present". (A.R.E. 146-147). At the hearing on Ms. Boatwright's Counter-Motion for Sanctions, Mr. Boatwright openly admits that he never actually saw either Ms. Boatwright or her brother go into chambers with the Chancellor. (A.R.E. 84-87). Further, Mr. Boatwright's counsel, during the course of the hearing on the motion to recuse, admitted to never having requested or read the first transcript from prior proceedings in an effort to investigate Mr. Boatwright's allegations. (A.R.E. 144-145).

The Chancellor also rendered a very detailed sixteen (16) page ruling upon the conclusion of the hearing on Ms. Boatwright's request for sanctions wherein he again took the time to point out the gross inconsistencies between Mr. Boatwright's allegations and the actual proof adduced at the recusal and sanction hearings. (C.R.T 29-45). The Court specifically found as follows:

"This Court finds Mr. Boatwright and his attorney did not read the transcripts that were available to them prior to the filing of this motion. Had they asked for them or at least had the attorney ask for them and reviewed them, she would have discovered that the affidavit that Mr. Boatwright signed contains arguably perjurious facts which are diametrically opposed to his prior sworn testimony in this court. That was not done and that is not arguable as to whether or not that was done. The attorney has admitted it as has Mr. Boatwright under oath . . . In short, Mr. Boatwright's attorney did not thoroughly verify or investigate her client's claim before going forward with this motion. In fact, I'm quite troubled that both of them signed affidavits concerning their allegations. Yet at the hearing on the recusal motion, there was no evidence presented that verified the sworn allegations in the petition. Had even a minimal effort been made by Mr. Boatwright and his counsel, they would have known that most of these allegations were false. An example of that is Mr. Boatwright's claim that he saw and his daughter saw Mr. Bonds, who is Ms. Boatwright's brother, go into the judge's chambers. He previously admitted, as did his daughter under oath, that they never saw this, this never occurred, and he admitted that again here today in court."

(A.R.E. 36-37)

"In this case, Mr. Boatwright nor his attorney investigated these claims, not even a minimal investigation. Didn't interview the witnesses. Didn't look at the transcripts. And as I've said earlier, this motion was brought in this Court's opinion by Mr. Boatwright as an attempt to gain and advantage against his ex-wife. What's missing in here is the ex-wife's equal right not to have to bear unreasonable expense because of Mr. Boatwright's "beliefs". His beliefs are not the standard by which this Court or any court is held. There must be some reasonable basis for those beliefes and there just is no basis for that."

(A.R.E. 42)

Simply put, the record of the testimony at the hearing on the motion to recuse supports the Chancellor's findings. (A.R.E. 29-45). A review of same will reveal that the Chancellor's findings were supported by credible evidence, or where applicable, the lack thereof, and the Chancellor's decision to impose sanctions was not an abuse of the discretion afforded him by our appellate courts.

6. It is the proper duty of the Chancellor to sit as the finder of fact, assess evidence and determine what weight and worth to give it.

The Chancellor is in "a better position than this Court to judge the veracity of witnesses and credibility of evidence. *Hammers v. Hammers*, 890 So.2d 944, 951 (Miss.App.2004) (quoting *Lee v. Lee*, 798 So.2d 1284, 1291 (Miss.2001). "It is the chancellor's duty, sitting as finder of fact, to assess the evidence and determine what weight and worth to give it." *Id* at 953 (quoting *Hinders v. Hinders*, 828 So.2d 1235, 1244 (Miss.Ct.App.2002)).

Mr. Boatwright's allegation that the Chancellor found almost no testimony presented by him to be credible and that the Chancellor gave more weight to certain testimony than other and as such, is evidence of bias is absurd. The law is clear that this is exactly the duty of the chancellor – to sit as the ultimate finder of fact and in observing the witnesses and listening to testimony, determine the weight and worth to give same.

Mr. Boatwright single-handedly did a significant amount of damage to his personal credibility with the Court by, among other things, not being truthful on the 8.05 financial statement (A.R.E. 159-61), lying to the guardian ad litem about whether he participated in an underage drinking party (A.R.E. 156-58), and lying in a sworn affidavit that accompanied his motion to recuse (A.R.E. 148-155).

The Chancellor, in the rendering of his findings, summarized the testimony of each witness put on by each party. (C.R.T. 1021-27). An analysis of the Court's summary of the testimony in comparison to the transcript of the testimony given will yield that the Chancellor made no misstatement of facts.

Mr. Boatwright has shown no abuse of discretion in terms of the Chancellor's determination of weight and worth of the evidence before the Court.

C. Mr. Boatwright is Procedurally Barred From Raising Issue of Whether Chancellor Erred in Previously Failing to Recuse.

As previously stated, Mr. Boatwright filed a Motion to Recuse in this cause on October 6, 2008. (P.R.E. 1-13). Ms. Boatwright filed a Response to Motion to Recuse and Counter-Motion for Sanctions on October 15, 2008. (P.R.E. 14-63). A hearing was had on the recusal motion on October 16th and the Chancellor rendered a lengthy ruling from the bench and denied the Motion to Recuse on October 28, 2008. (C.R.T. 184-281). Mr. Boatwright then filed a Petition for Review of Denial of Motion to Recuse with the Mississippi Supreme Court on November 13, 2008. (C.F. 183-213). That Petition for Review was denied by Order dated December 10, 2008. (A.R.E. 120). On appeal to this Court, however, Mr. Boatwright again raises the issue of whether the Chancellor's refusal to recuse was error.

Directly on point regarding this issue is *Allen v. Williams*, 914 So.2d 254 (Miss.Ct.App.2005). In *Allen*, during the course of her chancery court proceedings, Robyn filed a motion for the chancellor's recusal. *Allen*, 914 So.2d at 257. The chancellor denied Robyn's motion. *Id.* Robyn then filed a motion for review before the Mississippi Supreme Court. *Id.* The Court denied her petition for review of the chancellor's denial of motion for recusal. *Id.* On appeal after the conclusion of the trial of the matter, Robyn asserted as error that the chancellor abused his discretion in refusing to recuse. *Id* at 259. The Court of Appeals held that having been considered by the Mississippi Supreme Court pursuant to Allen's petition for review of trial court's denial of motion for recusal and denied, this assignment of error is *res judicata. Id.*

Accordingly, the Mississippi Supreme Court having considered the issue of Chancellor Roberts' refusal to recuse on Mr. Boatwright's Petition for Review of Denial of Motion to Recuse and having denied said Petition on December 10, 2008, this assignment of error on appeal as to all allegations addressed in said Petition for Review is *res judicata*.

D. The Terms of the Relationship Shared by Chancellor Roberts and Ms. Boatwright's Attorney Did Not Require Recusal and Chancellor's Failure to Make Disclosure of Same was Neither Improper Nor a Violation of Law

Mr. Boatwright alleges that the Chancellor erred in "failing to disclose his personal relationship with opposing counsel" and that "not making a full disclosure of his relationship with counsel opposite" at the time in which Mr. Boatwright filed his Motion to Recuse was a clear violation of Canon 3(e)(1)(a) of the *Code of Judicial Conduct*. He further alleges that "this relationship was relevant to the issue of recusal" and that "the Chancellor committed reversible error for failing to recuse himself upon motion of Mr. Boatwright".

At the July 9, 2009 hearing on Mr. Boatwright's Motion to Alter or Amend or for a New Trial, the only evidence relevant to determining the type of relationship the Chancellor had with Ms. Boatwright's counsel, Kent E. Smith, was offered through the testimony of Kent E. Smith upon direct examination conducted by counsel for Mr. Boatwright as follows:

Counsel:	Okay. And you just stated in part of your statement in response to my statement that you actually on April 8 th , the day before our hearing on attorneys' fees set for April 9 th , had gone turkey hunting with Judge Roberts, correct?
Mr. Smith:	Yes, ma'am. He went with me.
Counsel:	Yeah. He went with you on your property I believe?

Mr. Smith:	Yes, ma'am.
Counsel:	Okay. In Marshall County?
Mr. Smith:	That's right.
Counsel:	Okay. How many other times have you been hunting Roberts?

Mr. Smith: Ms. Robinson, in anticipation of answering that question that I felt like I would be answering, you know, I've thought back the best that I can. He and I hunted one time this year, which was a couple months after the trial and I had asked him to hunt with me. He's raising his three grandkids. His schedule is not like it used to be so I can tell you for 2009 I hunted one time. For 2008 my father was an avid turkey hunter. He was on his death bed and passed the first week in May of 2008. I did not hunt at all with Judge Roberts or anybody else in the spring of 2008. In 2007 the best that I could tell you would be a couple of times. It may have been once and it may have been three times, but I would say a couple of times. And then in 2006 I would say the same thing, probably a couple of times. And that would be the best answer that I could give you. I've hunted with Judge Roberts there for, what, five to eight times in my life. And none in 2008 and none before the trial or his ruling this year, 2009.

Counsel: Can you recall when you became friends with Judge Roberts?

Mr. Smith: Yes, ma'am. And friends – acquaintances and friends would be the way I'd answer it to be responsive. I grew up in Oxford. I've known Judge Roberts before he was judge. He was a lawyer in town practicing with Barrett Clisby. I've known Judge – I've been practicing 18 years or better. I've known Judge Roberts and I guess been acquaintances of his for, you know, a lot of years, 18, 20, 25 years just like I've known Judge Alderson for nearly 40 years. So I was an acquaintance, but I want to say this to try to get the friendship deal out and what people think of friends. Judge Roberts when he was still a lawyer prior to being elected as chancellor in this district represented my ex-wife.

Counsel: I was aware of that.

Mr. Smith: Okay. In a domestic matter that was, I guess the end of 2000 through the middle of 2001. I can tell you we weren't very good friends at that time and for some period of time after. We never had a hearing. We never had a deposition. The matter settled like a lot of domestic relations things do. And so it went on, he got

with Judge

elected, and, you know, I started seeing him. And I guess things, what you would say, healed or patched up, Ms. Robinson.

(A.R.E 97-100)

The issue of a judge's duty to make disclosure under Canon 3(E)(1) was addressed by our Supreme Court in Hathcock v. Southern Farm Bureau Cas. Ins. Co., 912 So.2d 844 (Miss.2005). In Hathcock, the judge had previously represented the defendant insurance company and his son was currently employed with the insurance company in an unrelated capacity. Hathcock, 912 So.2d at 853. The Court specifically referenced the commentary to Canon 3(E)(1) which Mr. Boatwright cites and uses as his basis for assigning error on appeal. Id at 852. The Court, citing Article VI §165 of the Mississippi Constitution, §9-1-11 of the Mississippi Code Annotated and Canon 3 of the Code of Judicial Conduct, stated that this type of disclosure is not required, per se. Id at 853. Additionally, the Court held that even if the judge had made a disclosure, the ultimate result would have been no different because there is no real basis for disqualification. Id. The Court further held that the judges past relationship and his son's current relationship with the defendant company alone was not enough to create a reasonable doubt as to the judge's impartiality. Id. Finally, the Court held "assuming arguendo that Judge Terry's failure to disclose would be error, it would be de minimum at best, and therefore, harmless". Id.

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